

Phase behavior in reservoir simulation

The pressure-volume-temperature (PVT) handling of fluids in reservoir simulation (/Reservoir_simulation) describes the phase behavior (/Thermodynamics_and_phase_behavior) of gas, oil, and water at reservoir and surface conditions. PVT considerations are important in setting up the proper parameters when undergoing reservoir simulation.

Phase behavior of a mixture with known composition consists of defining the number of phases, phase amounts, phase compositions, phase properties (molecular weight, density, and viscosity), and the interfacial tension (IFT) between phases. In addition to defining the phase behavior of mixtures at a specific reservoir pressure, knowing the derivatives of all phase properties with respect to pressure and composition is important in reservoir simulation.

Contents

- 1 Representing phase behavior
- 2 Number of phases and phase type
- 3 Two-phase flash
- 4 Density
- 5 Component partitioning
- 6 Viscosity
- 7 Gas/oil interfacial tension (IFT)
- 8 Black-oil PVT models
- 9 Equation-of-state models
- 10 Three-phase PVT behavior
- 11 Surface phase behavior
- 12 Thermal model PVT requirements
- 13 Fluid initialization
- 14 Nomenclature
- 15 Subscripts
- 16 References
- 17 Noteworthy papers in OnePetro
- 18 External links
- 19 See also

Representing phase behavior

The calculation of phase behavior in a reservoir model can be made in one of the two following ways:

- Using a "black-oil" approach^{[1][2][3][4][5]} based on simple interpolation of PVT properties as a function of pressure
- Using a "compositional" approach based on a thermodynamically-consistent model such as a cubic equation of state (/Equations_of_state) (EOS).^{[6][7]}>

With either approach, the PVT quantities required by a reservoir simulator are essentially the same. Modern reservoir simulators^{[6][1]} are usually written with a general compositional formulation, whereas black-oil PVT properties are converted internally to a two-component "compositional" model; the two components are surface gas and surface oil.

A reservoir simulator keeps track of overall composition in each computational grid cell (/Gridding_in_reservoir_simulation) as a function of time. A grid cell's overall composition changes because of cell-to-cell fluxes and because of production or injection in wells. The phase fluxes and component movement within the reservoir are greatly affected by phase behavior (e.g., the mobility of each phase and which components are carried in each phase). The surface products from wells are dependent on the phase behavior of produced wellstreams, but at conditions far removed from reservoir pressure and temperature.

In most reservoir simulators, the water phase and water component are treated in a simplified manner—namely, that the water component does not partition into the hydrocarbon phases, and the hydrocarbon components do not partition into the water phase; the term "hydrocarbon" also includes N_2 , CO_2 , and H_2S . Because of relatively

high CO_2 solubility in water, and the potential importance of CO_2 "accounting" in CO_2 floods, some compositional models allow CO_2 partitioning in the water phase.^[8]

Conceptually and computationally, it is feasible to allow complete partitioning of all components in all phases in reservoir simulation. The partitioning related to the water phase and the water component could be treated with simple pressure-dependent tables, or even with an EOS model. The water-related *K*-values have simple composition dependence that would make EOS-based fugacity (/Glossary:Fugacity) updates almost trivial. The main problem would be treating the impact of changing salinity on water-related *K*-values. From a practical point of view, however, modeling water-related component partitioning will have a marginal impact on reservoir performance. Hereafter, only phase behavior of nonaqueous phases will be discussed.

Number of phases and phase type

The starting point for PVT calculations in a model grid cell is to determine if the overall composition is single-phase or two-phase at the current pressure estimate. If a cell is single-phase, the phase "type" (gas or oil) may also be needed to select the proper relative permeability and capillary pressure

(/Relative_permeability_and_capillary_pressure) curves. For a black-oil PVT model (i.e., any model with simple pressure-dependent K-values), determining the number of

phases and phase identification is trivial.

For EOS models, two methods can be used for establishing how many phases exist: the Michelsen^[9] phase stability test or a saturation pressure calculation.^[9] The stability test is relatively "slow" because good K-value estimates are not used to initiate the calculation, whereas a saturation pressure can be quite fast because good K-value estimates

are often available. A stability test is more reliable in the sense of giving a conclusive result, whereas a near-critical saturation pressure test may not be found^[10] or converge correctly to a nontrivial solution. Another advantage of using saturation pressure is that it gives a consistent method to define phase type for single-phase cells, something that is not provided by the stability test. The choice of which method to use depends on the tradeoff between speed and reliability. Both methods, if detecting two phases, give excellent starting *K*-values to initiate the two-phase flash calculation.

Two-phase flash

Having established that two phases exist in a cell, one must perform a flash calculation. The flash calculation uses the overall moles n and molar composition z_i to determine the molar amounts of each phase (n_g and n_o), and the phase compositions (y_i and x_i). For simple pressure-dependent *K*-value models, the Rachford-Rice^{[11][12]} (RR) procedure is used to find molar amounts and compositions,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} (y_i - x_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{z_i(K_i - 1)}{1 + \alpha_g(K_i - 1)} = 0,$$
 (/File:Vol5_page_1450_eq_001.png).....(1)

solving for $\alpha_g = n_g / (n_g + n_o)$, with $x_i = z_i / [1 + \alpha_g (K_i - 1)]$ and $y_i = K_i x_i$.^[13]

For an EOS model, using the RR solution can be used, but an additional constraint must be satisfied; the fugacity of each component must be the same in each phase, $[^{14}]f_{gi} = f_{oi}$. Using an initial set of K_i estimates, the RR equation is solved. Resulting compositions y and x are then used to calculate fugacities f_{gi} and f_{oi} . If the constraint $f_{gi} = f_{oi}$ is not satisfied for all components, a new set of K-values is estimated using some form of a successive substitution (SS) update K_i new = K_{iold} (f_{oi}/f_{gi}).

For reservoir simulation, a Newton solution of the flash equation should be much faster than SS methods. Including the equal-fugacity constraint within the set of nonlinear equations used to solve for model pressures "automatically" provides the first Newton update of the flash equation.^[14] Usually only one additional Newton iteration of the flash equation is needed to converge the fugacity constraints to required tolerance.

In summary, *K*-values alone determine the phase amounts and phase compositions (from the Rachford-Rice equation). The EOS model guarantees rigorous thermodynamic consistency through the equal-fugacity constraint, ensuring that *K*-values properly account for pressure and composition dependence of the phase split and component partitioning.

Having completed the flash calculation in a cell, the following information is known: phase moles, phase masses, phase densities, phase volumes (saturations), and phase compositions. The viscosity and gas/oil interfacial tension (IFT) can be calculated using compositional correlations,^[13] or interpolated from pressure-dependent tables for a black-oil model. The impact of PVT properties on reservoir performance will consider individual PVT properties and their impact on individual terms in the flow equations.

Density

Phase molar amounts, n_g and n_o , are converted to phase volumes using phase molecular weights and densities: $V_g = n_g M_g / \varrho_g$ and $V_o = n_o M_o / \varrho_o$, where $S_g = V_g / V_{block}$ and $S_o = V_o / V_{block}$. Saturations determine relative permeabilities, which can have a dramatic impact on phase fluxes. Typically, $k_r \sim S^n$, where $n \sim 2$ to 4. For n = 3, a 5% error in density results in a 15% error in k_r .

For reservoirs with sufficiently high vertical permeability, gravity will often play an important role in recovery. Gravity segregation is caused by vertical fluxes driven by the potential terms $\nabla \varrho_g = d(p_g + \varrho_g gz + P_{cgo}) / dz$, $\nabla \varrho_o = d(p_o + \varrho_o gz) / dz$, and $\nabla \varrho_w = d(p_w + \varrho_w gz + P_{cwo}) / dz$. Errors in densities have a direct impact on gravity segregation. It is actually the density difference between flowing phases that determines the magnitude of gravity segregation (i.e., $\Delta \varrho_{wo} = \varrho_w - \varrho_o$, $\Delta \varrho_{go} = \varrho_o - \varrho_g$, and $\Delta \varrho_{wg} = \varrho_w - \varrho_g$). Likewise, the condition for equilibrium initialization $\nabla \varrho_g = \nabla \varrho_o = \nabla \varrho_w = 0$ results in saturation-depth distributions, which must honor input $\Delta \varrho_{go}g = P_{cgo}(S_g)$ and $\Delta \varrho_{wo}g = P_{cwo}(S_w)$ relationships.

A +5% error in oil density (e.g., 630 instead of 600 kg/m³) and a -5% in gas density (e.g., 380 instead of 400 kg/m³) results in gravity segregation potential ($\Delta \rho_{go} = \rho_o - \rho_g$) in error by 25% (250 instead of 200 kg/m³). Similarly, in the initialization of a water/oil system, the inadvertent use of $\rho_w = 62.5$ lbm/ft³ instead of the correct value of 70.0 lbm/ft³ for a high-salinity brine could easily cause a 25% error in initial oil in place for a low-permeability (large capillary transition zone), low-API oil.

In black-oil models, it is particularly easy to model densities incorrectly because of the inadvertent use of "arbitrary" surface densities. The reservoir phase densities are not input directly in a black-oil model. Instead, they are calculated using the formation volume factors (FVF) B_o , B_g , and B_w , solution gas/oil and oil/gas ratios R_s and r_s , and surface densities ϱ_{gs} , ϱ_{os} , and ϱ_{ws} , based on the relations $\varrho_g = (\varrho_{gs} + \rho_{os} r_s) / B_g$, $\varrho_o = (\varrho_{os} + R_s \varrho_{gs}) / B_o$, and $\varrho_w = \varrho_{ws} / B_w$. Because reservoir densities are not usually tabulated as output by reservoir simulators, the user may not know how "wrong" the densities might be.

A well-tuned EOS using volume shift factors^[15] should always predict reservoir and surface densities within 2 to 4%, and often within 1 to 2%. The author's experience has found it generally unnecessary to use different volume shift factors for reservoir and surface calculations unless all densities are needed with accuracies of 1 to 2%. The use of either Peng-Robinson^[16] or Soave-Redlich-Kwong^[17] EOS with volume-shift factors provides densities as good or better than the more-complicated ZJRK^[18] EOS model; in this author's opinion, the ZJRK no longer has a role in reservoir simulation, as supported by decreasing industrial use (almost to nonexistent) during the past 5 years.

Component partitioning

The partitioning of components in gas and oil phases, as dictated by K-values, is important for properly describing vaporization and condensation.

- Vaporization is the process of "stock-tank oil" (STO) components (C_{6+}) moving from the oil phase to the gas phase.
- Condensation is the process of intermediate $(C_{3}-C_{10+})$ components moving from the gas phase to the oil phase.

Retrograde condensation is particularly important in the depletion of gas condensate reservoirs, where in-situ retrograde condensation results in decreasing surface liquid yields.^{[1][13][19]}

For most gas-injection projects, vaporization will play an important role. Proper modeling of vaporization usually requires a compositional model that uses a detailed description of the heavier (C_{7+}) components, typically three to five fractions.^{[1][20][21]} The lightest fractions (C_7 to C_{12}) will typically vaporize 80 to 100%, while intermediate heavies (C_{13} to C_{20}) may vaporize in varying amounts from 30 to 90%, and the heaviest components C_{20+} may vaporize from 0 to 50%. The degree of

vaporization depends primarily on the local pressure and composition of displacing gas. Cook *et al.*^[3] suggested a modification of the black-oil model that allows saturated properties to change as a function of how much injection gas has contacted a given cell, thereby allowing reasonable description of a vaporization-dominated process. Tang and Zick^[22] propose a limited three-component compositional model that allows accurate description of developed miscibility for use in models in which grid-related dispersion may result in underpredicted conditions of miscibility using an EOS-based simulator.

In some gas-injection processes, the injection gas may be enriched (1) during injection by adding natural gas liquids (NGLs) (C_3 to C_5 components) and/or (2) within the reservoir by multiple contacts with reservoir oil, which gradually enriches the injection gas with intermediate components C_3 through C_{10} . For either type of enrichment, the vaporization process can become extremely efficient and result in a near-miscible or miscible displacement with near-100% recovery of the oil. When such a displacement results, it is often associated with the development of a complex process whereby the near-miscible front consists of upstream vaporization and downstream condensation—the "condensing/vaporizing" gas drive mechanism first described by Zick.^[23]

For an EOS model to properly describe complex phase behavior related to vaporization, condensation, and near-miscible mechanisms, special PVT experimental data should be measured and used to tune the EOS. For immiscible processes with significant vaporization, a single-cell multicontact PVT test is useful, quantifying the degree of vaporization in terms of oil volumetric stripping and gas compositional changes. For near-miscible or miscible processes, a swelling-type test which has the following features is strongly recommended:

- 1. Five to seven mixtures of reservoir oil and injection gas are used, with two to three mixtures being bubblepoints and two to three mixtures being dewpoints
- 2. Constant composition expansion is conducted on each mixture, where saturation pressure and the oil relative volumes are measured and reported
- 3. Single equilibrium "flash" somewhat near the critical point is used for obtaining a set of equilibrium gas and oil compositions (K-values).

Proper EOS tuning of the complex phase behavior measured in such an experiment is difficult, and requires the ability to match near-critical volumetric and compositional changes. Such predictions are almost never available *a priori* with an EOS model that has been tuned only to simple depletion data. Small but important modifications of the heavy-end properties and binary interaction parameters are usually required to obtain a satisfactory match of near-critical PVT data provided by this special "swelling" test. A tuned EOS model that is able to match all PVT data, including near-critical phase behavior, has a good chance of properly predicting true multicontact near-miscible/miscible behavior.^{[13][23]}

Viscosity

Gas viscosities (/Gas_viscosity) are typically estimated by correlation^[13] within 5 to 10%, and they are almost never measured experimentally. Such accuracy is adequate for most applications, and gas viscosities seldom vary beyond the range of 0.02 to 0.03 cp. For gas-injection processes at high pressure or near-miscible displacements, gas viscosities can range from 0.03 to 0.1 cp. Gas-viscosity correlations are not usually accurate for this higher range of viscosity, and errors up to 20 to 30% may be expected; compositional viscosity correlations also have the same level of accuracy.

Oil viscosities (/Oil_viscosity) are notoriously inaccurate based on correlations,^[13] at best being within 10 to 30%, but often in error by 50% or more. Oil viscosities should always be measured and used to tune a viscosity model. A minimum requirement would be measurement of stock-tank oil viscosities, and normally live-oil viscosities are available from a differential liberation test.

For gas condensates, oil viscosities are almost never measured. This may be a serious problem if condensate blockage has a significant impact on well deliverability.^[24] Condensate viscosities are difficult to measure because retrograde condensate volumes can be very small. The use of a separator condensate sample is recommended. Bring it to reservoir conditions (T and P) for density and viscosity measurements, then tune the viscosity model to these data. This approach is feasible for any gas condensate; it is not expensive, and it is better than relying on untuned compositional viscosity correlations.

Our experience has been that the compositional viscosity correlation by Lorenz, Bray, and Clark^[25] (LBC) is not predictive, and it is highly dependent on accurate density predictions. Tuning the heavy-component critical volumes and, sometimes, careful modification of the higher-order constants in the LBC equation, provide the required accuracy for gas and oil viscosities in most reservoir processes. Unfortunately, modification of the LBC correlation to match a limited number of viscosities (in a narrow range of pressure and composition typical of depletion experiments) can lead to unphysical viscosity predictions at conditions developed during a gas injection process.

The Pedersen *et al.*^[26] compositional viscosity correlation, though more complicated and CPU-intensive than the LBC correlation, has quite good predictive capabilities. The correlation is based on a corresponding states formulation in which methane viscosity is the reference compound.

Gas/oil interfacial tension (IFT)

Gas/oil IFTs may be used in a reservoir simulator^[27] to modify input capillary pressures P_{cgo} , relative permeabilities k_{rog} and k_{rg} , and residual oil saturation S_{org} . As IFT decreases, P_{cgo} decreases proportionately. Relative permeabilities and residual oil saturation change only marginally until IFT reaches a fairly low value (e.g., 1 mN/m), whereas at lower IFTs, the relative permeability-related properties change approximately as log(IFT).

Practically, IFT impact on capillary pressure is limited to fractured reservoirs^[28] in which displacement efficiencies may be strongly linked to the balance of gravity and capillary forces on a relatively small distance scale (e.g., block heights of 1 to 10 m).

IFT impact on relative permeabilities and residual saturations may have an impact on some gas-injection processes, though near-miscible and miscible processes have minimal IFT dependence because they are usually dominated by the strong compositional effects (vaporization and condensation) that result in near-100% recoveries. In fact, displacements that are miscible should, by definition, be independent of the relative permeabilities and residual oil saturation.

IFT impact on near-well relative permeabilities in gas condensate reservoirs can, together with high velocities, result in large capillary numbers, which have the tendency to "straighten" relative permeabilities and improve flow performance. It has been shown^{[29][30]} in a number of recent publications that this effect can have an important impact on gas-condensate well deliverabilities. Neglecting IFT and velocity dependencies of relative permeability can lead to overly conservative prediction of well deliverability (i.e., overprediction of condensate blockage).

Black-oil PVT models

Black-oil PVT properties are generated in one of two ways. For low- to medium-gas-oil-ratio (GOR) oils (< 150 Sm³/Sm³), a traditional differential liberation experiment (DLE) is used, with corrections for separator flash to calculate oil formation volume factor (FVF) B_o and solution GOR R_s , as well as the gas FVF B_g .^[13] This approach assumes the reservoir gas contains unsubstantial amounts of condensate in solution, with solution oil/gas ratio $r_s \sim 0$.

The more common and general approach to generating black-oil PVT properties uses an EOS model to simulate a depletion-type PVT experiment (differential liberation, constant volume depletion, or constant composition expansion), with the equilibrium gas and equilibrium oil at each stage in the depletion being individually processed to surface conditions to provide the four black-oil properties^{[1][17]}:

- *B*_o
- R_s
- B_g
- $\bullet r_s$

For highly volatile oils, the EOS method gives substantially different and improved black-oil properties compared with the traditional laboratory DLE/separator-corrected approach.

The conversion of black-oil PVT data $(R_s, B_o, r_s, \text{ and } B_g)$ to a compositional model^[3] uses *K*-values of surface gas and oil pseudo "components" $K_{gs} = (R_s + C_{os}) / (1 + r_s C_{os}) / R_s$ and $K_{os} = r_s(R_s + C_{os}) / (1 + r_s C_{os})$, with $C_{os} = (RT_{sc} / p_{sc})(\varrho_{os} / M_{os})$. The reservoir-phase densities are calculated from $\varrho_g = (\varrho_{gs} + \varrho_{os}r_s) / B_g$ and $\varrho_o = (\varrho_{os} + R_s \rho_{gs}) / B_o$, while phase molecular weights are given by $M_g = (M_{gs} + r_s M_{os} C_{os})/(1 + r_s C_{os})$ and $M_o = (R_s M_{gs} + M_{os} C_{os}) / (R_s + C_{os})$. Viscosities and gas/oil IFTs are interpolated directly from input tables.

Coats *et al.*, ^[1] Coats *et al.*,^[2] and Fevang *et al.*^[4] have shown that black-oil models can be used for practically any type of reservoir produced by depletion or waterflooding, including reservoirs with large compositional gradients. Some issues require special treatment for complex fluids systems, including fluid initialization and the method for generating black-oil tables. In a nutshell, the recommended procedures^[4] are to generate the black-oil tables with an EOS model using the fluids with the highest saturation pressure (e.g., at the gas/oil contact) and to initialize with solution GOR (R_s and r_s) vs. depth—not saturation pressure vs. depth.

A common problem with black-oil models is the calculation of "negative compressibility," ^[31] meaning that a small pressure drop results in a reduction in total (gas + oil) volume. Another problem is physical extrapolation of saturated PVT properties to saturation pressures higher than given in the input table (e.g., caused by gas injection, gravity segregation in undersaturated reservoirs, or near-well behavior during rate reductions).

When can the black-oil PVT treatment not be used? Basically, for any gas-injection process with significant component partitioning that changes during the displacement.^[4]

^[20] This would include processes with high-pressure vaporization using lean gas, condensation from enriched injection gas, and developed-miscibility processes such as the condensing/vaporizing mechanism. Surprisingly, a black-oil treatment is sometimes adequate even for complex gas injection problems, though it is not usually known *a priori*. To check the validity of a black-oil model in a gas injection project, the reservoir process should first be simulated with a compositional model, and preferably a relevant 3D model that captures all important flow characteristics.

Equation-of-state models

The most common EOS used in reservoir simulation are the PR and the SRK models. Both models have two constants, a and b. Each constant must be calculated for each component based on component critical properties (T_c and p_c) and acentric factor (ω).

The PR EOS has two versions—the original 1976 version^[17] and the modified 1979 version^[32]; the latter uses a third-degree polynomial expression for the correction term to constant a. For some systems, the difference in equilibrium calculations for the two PR EOS models is significant.

The Peneloux^[15] volume shift factors should always be used with two-constant EOS models to ensure accurate oil and gas densities. The volume shift factors have no impact on calculated *K*-values or compositions, only densities. As mentioned earlier, the ZJRK^[18] EOS is outdated and was used before the volume-shift method was introduced in 1980, with complex correction functions to constants *a* and *b* to improve liquid density predictions.

Binary interaction parameters (BIPs) k_{ij} are important for adjusting predictions of equilibrium properties (*K*-values and compositions).^[33] These parameters represent a correction of the form $(1 - k_{ij})$ to the $a_i a_j$ term in the quadratic mixing rule for EOS constant a. BIPs can be positive or negative; they are symmetric $(k_{ij} = k_{ji})$; they are usually ~0 for most hydrocarbon-hydrocarbon pairs, except C₁ to C₇₊ pairs which may reach values as high as 0.25; and they are generally close to 0.1 for nonhydrocarbon (N_2, CO_2, H_2S) -hydrocarbon pairs.

Three-phase PVT behavior

Three-phase (L1-L2-V) behavior is an occasional but serious problem for EOS-based compositional models. The third phase (L2) is usually a light liquid and typically appears at low temperatures (< 140°F) in gas-injection processes (/Miscible_flooding) using CO₂ or NGL-enriched gas.^[34] Physically, three phases may actually exist, and the EOS model is correctly predicting the behavior. Sometimes a three-phase system is predicted without one physically existing; this may result for lower temperatures when the heaviest component properties are improperly modified to fit two-phase gas/oil PVT data.

For reservoir simulators, the three-phase problem is caused by the EOS formulation "allowing" only two phases. If three phases actually exist, the two-phase flash may find any of the three possible two-phase combinations: L1-V, L2-V, or L1-L2. These false two-phase solutions may indicate a single-phase condition, or they may actually appear as a valid solution (meeting the equal fugacity constraints). Unfortunately, the reservoir model, in a given cell during a given timestep, may flip-flop between two of the possible solutions, resulting in unstable behavior because the pressure solution is not continuous from one two-phase solution to the other. Models may have to simply give up because of repeated timestep reductions, which result from the inadequacy of the EOS two-phase model handling a three-phase condition.^[35]

Surface phase behavior

In compositional simulation, the surface calculations are usually made using multistage separation with an EOS model, with fixed *K*-values for each separator, or using so-called "gas plant" factors, which define the fraction of a wellstream component that is processed into the stock-tank oil.

For black-oil models, the surface separation is "built in" to the PVT tables. Consequently, if the surface process changes during a model run, all black-oil PVT tables must be reentered at the appropriate time. This also requires that vertical flow performance (VFP) tables be reentered because surface rate and volume ratio nodes change with the process change.

It is difficult to use traditional black-oil models for fields with various well groups that have significantly different processing facilities.^[2]

Thermal model PVT requirements

Additional PVT requirements for thermal processes such as steamflooding (/Steamflooding) include quantifying the temperature dependence of *K*-values, densities, and viscosities. Water-phase behavior of liquid and steam must also be defined in terms of pressure and temperature. Water-hydrocarbon phase behavior is still assumed to be simple, without water/hydrocarbon component partitioning.

An EOS model can be tuned to distillation data for improving the predictive capabilities of K-value dependence; otherwise, a simple correlation of the form $K_i = a_i \exp(-b_i T)$

/ p may be used for distillable components.^[36] Using distillation data is an indirect approach to defining *K*-value behavior, and it is used in lieu of high-temperature gas/oil/water phase-behavior experiments, which are not usually available. Oil viscosities in thermal processes may be difficult to correlate with a compositional correlation, so empirical correlations may be used instead.

Fluid initialization

As with rock and other petrophysical properties such as permeability and porosity, a reservoir simulator model must also initialize the spatial distribution of initial fluids. For an EOS-based model, the initial molar compositions are defined, $z_i(x,y,z)$. For a black-oil model, the initial solution gas-oil ratio R s and solution oil-gas ratio r s ratio are

defined, $R_s(x,y,z)$ and $r_s(x,y,z)$; sometimes saturation pressures are used instead, $p_b(x,y,z)$ and $p_d(x,y,z)$, but this is not recommended.^[37] Specifying a saturated gas-oil contact (GOC) is also a means to initialize fluids vertically in a reservoir simulator, where solution GOR R_s (and bubblepoint) are assumed constant below the GOC, while solution OGR r_s decreases upwards from the GOC to honor the model-imposed assumption that reservoir pressure equals dewpoint pressure, $p(z) = p_d(z)$.

Another fluid initialization data might include temperature T(x,y,z). Some black-oil models allow spatial variation of stock-tank oil density, $\gamma_{API}(x,y,z)$, where black-oil properties are correlated in multidimensional tables as a function of pressure and γ_{API} . Across barriers such as faults and sealing shales, discrete PVT model data may be defined, such as EOS parameters or black-oil tables; such "discontinuous" fluid descriptions may cause physical and model incompatibilities if fluids mix in the reservoir or at the surface.

A typical problem with initialization is that the specified fluid distribution, initial pressure specifications, and fluid contacts lead to fluid movement when the model is turned on (without production or injection). Initial fluid movement may be unimportant without significantly changing the user-specified fluid system; serious inconsistencies may lead to time-zero flow that has an impact on model performance.

Nomenclature

- K_i = equilibrium constant for component *i*
- α = mole fraction vapor phase
- ∇ = potential term

Subscripts

g = gas phaseI = component number, index counter, or initial condition

References

- 1. ↑ ^{1.0} ^{1.1} ^{1.2} ^{1.3} ^{1.4} ^{1.5} Coats, K.H., Thomas, L.K., and Pierson, R.G. 1998. Compositional and Black Oil Reservoir Simulation. SPE Res Eval & Eng 1 (4): 372-379. SPE-50990-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/50990-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/50990-PA)
- 2. ↑ ^{2.0} ^{2.1} ^{2.2} Coats, B.K., Nolen, J.S., and Sherman, A.H. 1988. Applicability and Accuracy of Two Component Characterizations of Reservoir Oils for Numerical Modeling Purposes. Presented at the International Meeting on Petroleum Engineering, Tianjin, China, 1-4 November 1988. SPE-17614-MS. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/17614-MS (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/17614-MS)
- 3. ↑ ^{3.0} ^{3.1} ^{3.2} Cook, R.E., Jacoby, R.H., and Ramesh, A.B. 1974. A Beta-Type Reservoir Simulator for Approximating Compositional Effects During Gas Injection. Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal 14 (5): 471-481. SPE-4272-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/4272-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/4272-PA)
- 4. ↑ ^{4.0} ^{4.1} ^{4.2} ^{4.3} Fevang, Ø. and Whitson, C.H. 1996. Modeling Gas-Condensate Well Deliverability. SPE Res Eng 11 (4): 221–230. SPE-30714-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/30714-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/30714-PA)
- 5. ↑ Spivak, A. and Dixon, T.N. 1973. Simulation of Gas-Condensate Reservoirs. Presented at the SPE Symposium on Numerical Simulation of Reservoir Performance, Houston, Texas, 11-12 January 1973. SPE-4271-MS. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/4271-MS (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/4271-MS)
- 6. ↑ ^{6.0} ^{6.1} Young, L.C. and Stephenson, R.E. 1983. A Generalized Compositional Approach for Reservoir Simulation. SPE J. 23 (4): 727–742. SPE-10516-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10516-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10516-PA)
- 7. ↑ Ács, G., Doleschall, S., and Farkas, E. 1985. General Purpose Compositional Model. SPE J. 25 (4): 543–553. SPE-10515-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10515-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10515-PA)
- 8. ¹ Chang, Y.-B., Coats, B.K., and Nolen, J.S. 1998. A Compositional Model for CO2 Floods Including CO2 Solubility in Water. SPE Res Eval & Eng 1 (2): 155-160. SPE 35164. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/35164-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/35164-PA)
- 9. ↑ ^{9.0 9.1} Michelsen, M.L. 1985. Saturation point calculations. Fluid Phase Equilib. 23 (2–3): 181-192. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(85)90005-6 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(85)90005-6)
- 10. ↑ Michelsen, M.L. 1982. The isothermal flash problem. Part I. Stability. Fluid Phase Equilib. 9 (1): 1-19. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(82)85001-2 (http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(82)85001-2)
- 11. ↑ Muskat, M. and McDowell, J.M. 1949. An Electrical Computer for Solving Phase Equilibrium Problems. J Pet Technol 1 (11): 291-298. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/949291-G (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/949291-G)
- 12. ↑ Rachford Jr., H.H. and Rice, J.D. 1952. Procedure for Use of Electronic Digital Computers in Calculating Flash Vaporization Hydrocarbon Equilibrium. J Pet Technol 4 (10): 19, 3. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/952327-G (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/952327-G)
- 13. ↑ ^{13.0} ^{13.1} ^{13.2} ^{13.3} ^{13.4} ^{13.5} ^{13.6} Whitson, C.H. and Brule, M.R. 2000. Phase Behavior, Vol. 20. Richardson, Texas: Monograph Series, SPE.
- 14. ↑ ^{14.0} ^{14.1} Michelsen, M.L. 1982. The isothermal flash problem. Part II. Phase-split calculation. Fluid Phase Equilib. 9 (1): 21-40. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(82)85002-4 (http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(82)85002-4)
- 15. ↑ ^{15.0} ^{15.1} Péneloux, A., Rauzy, E., and Fréze, R. 1982. A consistent correction for Redlich-Kwong-Soave volumes. Fluid Phase Equilib. 8 (1): 7-23. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(82)80002-2 (http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-3812(82)80002-2)
- 16. ↑ Peng, D.Y. and Robinson, D.B. 1976. A New-Constant Equation of State. Ind. Eng. Chem. Fund. 15 (1): 59-64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/i160057a011 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/i160057a011)
- 17. ↑ ^{17.0} ^{17.1} ^{17.2} Soave, G. 1972. Equilibrium constants from a modified Redlich-Kwong equation of state. Chem. Eng. Sci. 27 (6): 1197-1203. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0009-2509(72)80096-4 (http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0009-2509(72)80096-4)
- 18. 18.0 18.1 Zudkevitch, D. and Joffe, J. 1970. Correlation and prediction of vapor-liquid equilibria with the redlich-kwong equation of state. AIChE J. 16 (1): 112-119.

- http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aic.690160122 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aic.690160122)
- 19. ↑ Whitson, C.H. and Torp, S.B. 1983. Evaluating Constant-Volume Depletion Data. J Pet Technol 35 (3): 610-620. SPE-10067-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10067-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10067-PA)
- 20. ↑ ^{20.0} ^{20.1} Cook, A.B., Spencer, G.B., and Bayazeed, A.F. 1967. The Role of Vaporization in High Percentage Oil Recovery by Pressure Maintenance. J Pet Technol 19 (2): 245-250. SPE-1646-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/1646-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/1646-PA)
- 21. ↑ Whitson, C.H. 1983. Characterizing Hydrocarbon Plus Fractions. SPE J. 23 (4): 683–693. SPE-12233-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/12233-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/12233-PA)
- 22. ↑ Tang, D.E. and Zick, A.A. 1993. A New Limited Compositional Reservoir Simulator. Presented at the SPE Symposium on Reservoir Simulation, New Orleans, Louisiana, 28 February–3 March. SPE-25255-MS. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/25255-MS (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/25255-MS)
- 23. ↑ ^{23.0} ^{23.1} Zick, A.A. 1986. A Combined Condensing/Vaporizing Mechanism in the Displacement of Oil by Enriched Gases. Presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, New Orleans, 5–8 October. SPE 15493. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/15493-MS (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/15493-MS)
- 24. ↑ Fevang, Ø., Singh, K., and Whitson, C.H. 2000. Guidelines for Choosing Compositional and Black-Oil Models for Volatile Oil and Gas-Condensate Reservoirs. Presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Dallas, Texas, 1-4 October 2000. SPE-63087-MS. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/63087-MS (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/63087-MS)
- 25. ↑ Lohrenz, J., Bray, B.G., and Clark, C.R. 1964. Calculating Viscosities of Reservoir Fluids From Their Compositions. J Pet Technol 16 (10): 1171–1176. SPE-915-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/915-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/915-PA)
- 26. ↑ Pedersen, K.S. and Fredenslund, A. 1987. An Improved Corresponding States Model for the Prediction of Oil and Gas Viscosities and Thermal Conductivities. Chem. Eng. Sci. 42: 182.
- 27. ↑ Coats, K.H. 1980. An Equation of State Compositional Model. J Pet Technol 20 (5): 363–376. SPE-8284-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/8284-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/8284-PA)
- 28. ↑ Saidi, A.M. 1996. Twenty Years of Gas Injection History into Well-Fractured Haft Kel Field (Iran). Presented at the International Petroleum Conference and Exhibition of Mexico, Villahermosa, Mexico, 5–7 March. SPE 35309. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/35309-MS (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/35309-MS)
- 29. ↑ Whitson, C.H., Fevang, Ø., and Sævareid, A. 1999. Gas Condensate Relative Permeability for Well Calculations. Presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Houston, Texas, 3–6 October. SPE-56476-MS. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/56476-MS (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/56476-MS)
- 30. ↑ Mott, R.E., Cable, A.S., and Spearing, M.C. 2000. Measurements of Relative Permeabilities for Calculating Gas-Condensate Well Deliverability. SPE Res Eval & Eng 3 (6): 473–479. SPE-68050-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/68050-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/68050-PA)
- 31. ↑ Coats, K.H. 2000. A Note on IMPES and Some IMPES-Based Simulation Models. SPE J. 5 (3): 245-251. SPE-65092-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/65092-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/65092-PA)
- 32. TRobinson, D.B. and Peng, D.Y. 1978. The Characterization of the Heptanes and Heavier Fractions. Research Report 28. Tulsa, Oklahoma: Gas Producers Assn.
- 33. ↑ Katz, D.L. and Firoozabadi, A. 1978. Predicting Phase Behavior of Condensate/Crude-Oil Systems Using Methane Interaction Coefficients. J Pet Technol 30 (11): 1649–1655. SPE-6721-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/6721-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/6721-PA)
- 34. ↑ Shelton, J.L. and Yarborough, L. 1977. Multiple Phase Behavior in Porous Media During CO2 or Rich-Gas Flooding. J Pet Technol 29 (9): 1171-1178. SPE-5827-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/5827-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/5827-PA)
- 35. ↑ Nghiem, L.X. and Li, Y.K. 1986. Effect of Phase Behavior on CO2 Displacement Efficiency at Low Temperatures: Model Studies With an Equation of State. SPE Res Eng 1 (4): 414–422. SPE-13116-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/13116-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/13116-PA)
- 36. ↑ Coats, K.H. 1976. Simulation of Steamflooding With Distillation and Solution Gas. SPE J. 16 (5): 235–247. SPE-5015-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/5015-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/5015-PA)
- 37. ↑ Thomas, G.W. and Thurnau, D.H. 1983. Reservoir Simulation Using an Adaptive Implicit Method. SPE J. 23 (5): 759–768. SPE-10120-PA. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10120-PA (http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/10120-PA)

Noteworthy papers in OnePetro

Use this section to list papers in OnePetro that a reader who wants to learn more should definitely read

External links

Use this section to provide links to relevant material on websites other than PetroWiki and OnePetro

See also

- Phase behavior of water and hydrocarbon systems (/Phase_behavior_of_water_and_hydrocarbon_systems)
- Thermodynamics and phase behavior (/Thermodynamics_and_phase_behavior)
- Oil fluid properties (/Oil_fluid_properties)
- Reservoir simulation (/Reservoir_simulation)
- Reservoir simulation applications (/Reservoir_simulation_applications)
- PEH:Reservoir_Simulation (/PEH:Reservoir_Simulation)
- Category (/Special:Categories): 5.2.1 Phase behavior and PVT measurements (/Category:5.2.1_Phase_behavior_and_PVT_measurements)



(https://www.onepetro.org/search?q=Phase behavior in reservoir simulation)



(http://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Phase behavior in reservoir simulation)



(http://www.worldcat.org/search?q=Phase behavior in reservoir simulation)



title=Special%3AS earch&redirs=1&fulltext=Search&ns0=1&ns4=1&ns500=1&redirs=1&title=Special%3AS earch&advanced=1&fulltext=Advanced+search&search=Phasestarch&redirs=1&fulltext=Advanced+search&search=Phasestarch&search&search=Phasestarch&sear



(http://wiki.aapg.org/index.php?

behavior in reservoir simulation)

title=Special%3ASearch&profile=advanced&fulltext=Search&ns0=1&ns4=1&ns102=1&ns104=1&ns106=1&ns108=1&ns420=1&ns828=1&redirs=1&profile=advanced&set behavior in reservoir simulation)